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IN TIIE T'NITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

UMTED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintifl

Civil Action Number 17-

$44,OOO,OOO IN IINITED STATES
CI"IRRENCY,

\.ERIFIED COMPLAINT IN,IR,EM

Plaintiff, United States of America, by its attomeys, David C. Weiss, Acting United States

Attorney for the District of Delaware, and Lesley F. Wolf, Robert F. Kravetz, and Jamie M. McCall

Assistant United States Aftomeys, brings this complaint and alleges as follows:

NATURE OF TIIE ACTION

1. This action is brought by the United States pursuant to 18 U.S.C. $ 981(a)(1)(C)

and Rule G of the Supplemental Rules for Certain Admiralty or Maritime Claims and Asset

Forfeiture Actions seeking forfeiture of certain property traceable to false statements made by

Wilmington Trust Corporation ("Wilmington Trust') in securities and rcgulatory filings between

the Third Quarter of2009 and the Second Quarter of2010 (the "Relevant Time Period').

2. By this Complaint, the United States seeks forfeiture ofa11 right, title, and interest

in $44,000,000 in United States currency (the "Defendant Funds"). Wilnington Trust has agreed

to transfer the Defendant Funds to the United States pursuant to a Settlement Agreement.

3. This is an action to fofeit property to the United States for violations of l8 U.S.C.

$ 1005, or a conspiracy to commit such violation.

Defendanl in rem.



Case 1:99-mc-09999 Document 1L03 Filed 7OlIOll7 Page 2 of 7 PagelD #:116277

JIJRISDICTIO AIID \'ENUE

4. This Court has subject matter arrd in rem jurisdiction over the matter under 28

U.S.C. $$ 1345 (action commenced by the United States) and 13 55(a) and (b) (action for forfeiture

which may be brought in the district wherc any of the acts giving rise to forfeiture occurred),

respectively.

5. Venue is proper in this Dishict pursuant to 28 U.S.C' $ 13 55(b)(1)(A) because some

of the acts or omissions giving rise to the forfeiture occurred in this District and pursuant to 28

U.S.C. $ 1395(b) because the property is located in this District.

THEDEFENDANT/NREM

6. On or about October 9, 2017, Wibnington Trust entered into a Settlement

Agreement with the United States. Pursuant to that A$eement, Wilmington Trust agreed to

transfer to the United States the Defendant Frmds. Under the terms of the Agreement, Wilrnington

Trust has agreed not to contest the forfeiture of the Defendant Funds. The govemment is unaware

of any other potential claima:rts to tlle Defendant Funds.

7. The Defendant Funds represent proceeds uaceable to the offlense set forth in

paragraph 3, supra.

8. The Settlement Agreement and accompanying Statement of Facts, set forth in

Exhibit A to that Agreement, are attached as Annex. i, and are incorporated fully into this

Complaint as if they had been set forth herein.

FACTUA], ALLEGATIONS

9. The United States' claims for forfeiture arise out of its investigation of false

statements made by Wilmington Trust regarding the quality of its loan portfolio, including its
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quantity ofpast due and nonaccrual loans, as reported in securities filings with the Securities and

Exchange Commission ('SEC'), Ca1l Reports frled with the Federal Resewe, and Monthly

Regulatory Reports filed with the Board of Govemors of the Federal Reserve, between the Third

Quarter of2009 and the Second Quarter of2010.

10. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Wilmington Trus! a financial institution as

defined by 18 U.S.C. $ 20, was a Delaware Corporation and had its principal place ofbusiness in

Wilmington, Delaware.

11. As a financial institution, Wilmington Trust was subject to regulatory supervision

by the Federal Reserve, and was a "state Member Bank" ofthe Federal Reserve System, as defined

by 12 U.S.C. $ 1813(d).

12. Wilmington Trust was required to file, and did file with the Federal Reserve, a

quarterly "Consolidated Report of Condition and Income for a Bank with Domestic Offices Only

- FFIEC 041," which is cornmonly known as the "Call Report." Each Call Report set forth detailed

financial data about WiJrnington Trust's financial position and the results of its operations for that

quarter. Schedule RC-N of the Call Report required disclosure of Wilmington Trust's total amount

of loans that were, for that quarter, (a) 30 to 89 days past due; O) 90 days or more past due; and

(c) on nonaccrual status, that is, no longer accruing intetest income.

13. Wilminglon Trust was also required to submit to periodic safety and soundness

examinations conducted by the Federal Reserve and other state and federal financial regulators.

Wilmington Trust was required to repot information regarding past due loans to the Federal

Reserve in advance of these examinations, which affected the Federal Reserve's conclusions

regarding Wilnington Trust's safety and soundness.

1
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14. As a result ofthe Federal Reserve's 2009 fulI-scope examination, Wilmington Trust

entered into a Memorandum of Understanding ('MOU) with the Federal Reserve on or about

October 21, 2009, ttrat irmong other obligations, required Wilmington Trust to submit its total

amount of past due loans to the Federal Reserve on a monthly basis (the 'Monthly Regulatory

Reports").

15. As a publicly-traded company that was listed on the New York Stock Exchange

(NYSE), Wilmington Trust was also required to comply with the rules and regulations

promulgated by the SEC, including the filing of annuai (Form 10-K) and quarterly @orm 10-Q)

reports (the "SEC Reports"). Wilmington Trust was required to disclose accurately in its SEC

Reports its total amount of loans that were past due for 90 days or more and still accruing interest,

as well as its total amount of loans on nonaccrual status. Both disclosures were among the

important metrics used by investors to analyze the quality of Wihnington Trust's loan portfolio

and Wilmington Trust's health generally.

16. A "past due loan" is a loan in which the bonower has not made a required interest

or principal payment in accordance with the loan's contractual repayment terms. The Bank's

computerized intemal accounting system, known as the "SHAW" system, treated a loan as past

due based upon tle loan's contractual terms.

17 . A "matured loan" is a term loan which has passed its contractual date for pdncipal

repayment. The SHAW system considered matured loans to be past due.

18. Although Wilmington Trust's SIIAW system treated matured loans as past due,

Wilmington Trust utilized a practice of manually oveniding SHAW in order to "waive," ttrat is, to

not include mafured loans that werq intemally designated as "current for interest" and in the

/.



"process of extension" as past due in public reports to the SEC and the Federal Reserve (hereafter

the "Waiver Practice").

19. The Bank's Waiver Practice resulled in a variance between commercial loans

treated as past due on its SHAW system and reported pubiicly as past due in its Call Reports, SEC

Reports, and in the Monthly Regulatory Reports.

20. On or about February 23,2010, the day after the Bank filed its 2009 Form 10-K

with the SEC, the Bank hled an Offering Prospectus with the SEC that outlined its plan to issue

18,875,000 shares of common stock at $13.25 per share. The Prospectus explicitly incorporated

the Bank's 2009 Form 10-K, which did not include approximately $316 million ir past due

commercial loans which were otherwise treated as pa.st due on its SIIAW system, but were not

reported as past due because of the Waiver Practice.

2L . The Bank raised approximately $273 . 9 million from the public stock offering.

22. The proceeds rcalized, by the Bank by virtue of the Waiver Practice represent a

corporate benefit that Wilminglon Trust received by selling stock at inflated prices.

CLAIMFORRELTEF

23. Pwsuant to 18 U.S.C. $ 981(a)(1\C) "[a]ny property, real or personal, which

constitutes or is derived fiom proceeds traceable to a violation of. . . any offense constituting

'specified unlawfirl activity"'is subject to forfeiture by the United States. "Specified uolawful

activity'' is defined in 18 U.S.C. g 1956(c)(7)(A) to include, among other things, offenses in

violation of 18 U.S.C. g 1005 (ftaudulent bank enhies). The term "proceeds', includes ,,property

of any kind obtained directly or indirectly, as a result ofthe commission ofthe offense giving rise
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to forfeiture, and any property traceable thereto, and is not limited to the net gain or profit realized

fiom this offense." 18 U.S.C. $ 981(a)(2)(A).

24. The Defendant Funds constitute and are derived ftom proceeds traceable to

specified unlawful activity, specifically 18 U.S.C. $ 1005, or a conspiracy to commit such offense,

or are a substitute res for such proceeds. As a result, the defendant funds are subject to forfeitwe

to the United States of America pursuant to 18 U.S.C. $ 981(a)(1)(C).

REQUEST FORRELIET'

WHEREFORE plaintiff, the United States prays that the defendant in rembe forfeited to

tlre United States, that the plaintiff be awarded its costs and disbursements in this action, and for

such other and further relief as the Court deems proper andjust.

Respectftrlly submift ed,

DAVID C. WEISS
United States

By:
F

F. Kravetz

M. McCall

Assistant United States Attomeys
1007 Orange Street, Suite 700
P.O. Box 2046
Wilmington, De1 aware 19 899 -20 46
(302) s73-6277

Dated: October 10,2017
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VERIf,'ICATION

I, Special Agent Greg S. Mrozek, hereby veriff and declare under penalty ofperjury

that I am a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation ("FBI"), that I have read

the foregoing Verified Complaint in rem and know the contents thereof, and that the matters

contained in the Verified Complaint are true to my own knowledge, except that those

matters herein stated to be alleged on information and beliefand as to those mattsrs I believe

them to be true.

The sources ofmy knowledge and inforrnation and the grounds ofmy belief are the

oflicial files and records of the United States, information supplied to me by other law

enforcement officers, as well as my investigation of this case, together with others, as a

Special Agent ofthe FBI.

I hereby verifr and declare undet penalty of pe{ury that the foregoing is true and

correct.

Greg S.

Special Agent
Federal Bureau of hrvestigation

Dated: October 10,2077

Swom to before me this
lOtir day of October, 2017

D. LOTHARP

BABBARA D, LOTHARP

^/f) 
iABY PUEUC

S IA I E OF DELAWARE
t.!, Comm.ssion Expi16s 56pt. Z, 20l E

7
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ANNEX 1
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SETTLI.]MENT AGREEMENT

This Settlement Agreement ("Agreement") is entered into between the United States

Attomey's Office for the District of Delaware ("IJSAO"), and the Wilminglon Trust Corporation,

as well as its current and former paxents, subsidiaries, and affrliates (hereinafter collectively

,,Wilmington Trust"). The USAO and Wilrnington Trust are collectively refened to herein as "the

Parties."

RECITALS

A. The USAO conducted an investigation concerning whether Wilmington Trust and

its executives made false statements regarding the quality of its commercial loan portfolio,

including Wilmington Trust's quantity of past due loa:rs, as reported in securities filings with the

securities and Exchange commission c'sBC"), call Reports filed with the Board of Govemors of

the Federal Reserve (,,Federa1 Reserve"), and Monthly Regulatory Reports filed with the Federal

Reserve between 2009 and 2010, as set forth in the Third Superseding Indictrn entin United States

v. wilmington Trust Corp. et al No. 15-23-RGA (D. Del) (all matters that were the subject of, or

that otherwise relate to or arise out of, the investigation or the Third Superseding L:dictrnent and

prior indictments in the above action are hereinafter referred to as the "Covered Conducf).

B. Based on the investigation, the USAO believes that there was an evidentiary basis

to bring both a civil and criminal case against Wilmington Trust for violating federal criminal and

civil law in connection with its public disclosures durin g the 2009-2010 time period.

C. The USAO enters into this Agreement based on the individual facts and

circumstances presenied by this case and by Wilrnington Trust. Among the factors considered

were the following:

o Wilmington Trust has agreed to make a payment, as provided in Paragraph 1;
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. Wilrington Trust is willing to cooperate with the USAO as provided in Paragraph

2 below; and

. Wilmington Trust is willing to agree to the facts and statements set forth in Exhibit

A hereto, hereby incorporated by reference.

D. This Agreement is effective on the date of signature of the last sigrratory to the

Agreement.

In consideration ofthe mutual promises and obligations of the Agreemen! the Parties

agree and covenant as follows:

Payrnent and Forfeiture

1. Wilmington Trust shall pay a total amount of $60,000,000.00 to resolve pending

and potential criminal claims the USAO has or may have against wilmington Trust in connection

with the covered conduct (the "Total Settlement Amount"). Wilmington Trust will transfer

$44,000,000 ("the Transfened Amounf) to the USAO pursuaat to this Agreement.

A. The United States contends that the facts alleged in Exhibit A and that it

intends to assert in averjfied in rem complainl United States of America v- $44'000'000 in

(Jnited States Ctorency, Civil Aotion No. 77+v-- (hereinafter 'the Civil Forfeiture

Complainf) provide a basis for the civil forfeiture ofthe Transferred Amount to the United

States. The Civil Forfeiture Complaint will be frled against the Transfened Amount in the

United States District Court for the Dishict of Deiaware (hereinafter "the Civil Forfeiture

Action").

B. By this Agreement, Wilmington Trust expressly agrees that it does not

have standing to appear in and will not appear in, or otherwise litigate any matter in, the

Civil Forfeiture Action. Furthermore, Wilmington Trust expressly waives all

2

TERMS AND CONDITIONS
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constitutional aad statutory challenges in any manner to any forfeiture canied out as to the

Transferred Amount on any grounds.

C. By entering into this Agreement, Wilminglon Trust has agreed to the Total

Settlement Amount of $60,000,000 and has further agreed to abandon all right, title and

interest in the Transfened Amount upon the transfer.

D. Wilmington Trust agrees that it will not file a claim with any Court or

otherwise contest the civil forfeiture ofthe Transferred Amount and will not assist a third

party in asserting any claim to the Transfened Amoun! except to the extent necessary to

cooperate with any claims administrator designated by the DeparEnent of Justice to

administer the firnds subiect to forfeiture. Wiknington Trust certifies that the funds used

to pay tle Transferred Amount are not the subject of any lien, security agreement, or other

encumbrance. Transferring encumbered flmds or failing to pass clean title to these flmds

in any way will be considered a breach ofthis Agreement.

E. Wilmington Tnrst agrees that t}re Transfened Amount shall be treated as a

penalty paid to the United States government for tax purposes. Wilmington Trust

acknowledges that no United States tax deduction may be sought in cormection with the

payment of any part of the Transferred Amount.

F. Wiknington Tnrst shall kansfer the entire Transferred Amount of

$44,000,000.00 million within one (1) calendar day after executing this Agreement (or as

otherwise directed by the USAO following such period) and shall pay any associated

transfer fees. Such payments shall be made pursuant to wire inskuctions provided by the

USAO. If Wilmington Trust fails to timely make the payment required under this

paragraph, interest (at the rate specified by 28 U.S.C. $ 1961) shall accrue on the unpaid

balance through the date of payment.

J
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G. The Transferred Amount paid is final and shall not be refi-rnded. In the event

of a breach of this Agreemen! the United States may pusue any rights to forfeiture in

excess of the Transferred Amount. The United States agrees that in such event, it will

recommend to the Court that the amounts paid pursuant to this Agreement be offset against

whatever forfeiture the Court shall impose as part of its judgment. Wilmington Trust

understands that such a recommendation will not be binding on the Court.

H. Effective upon the transfer, solely for purposes of Supplemental Rule G(3),

the Transferred Amount shall be deemed within the control ofthe United States and subject

to Supplemental Rule C(3XbXi).

I. The USAO agrees that payments by Wilrninglon Trust, in connection with

the settlement between Wilmington Trust and the Securities and Exchange Commission

(In the Matter of Wilmington Trust Corporation, Adminishative Proceeding File No. 3-

16098, dated September 11, 2014), totaling $16 milIion, shall be credited against the Total

Settlement Amount, leaving the Transfened Amount.

J, Any judgment entered in the Civil Forfeiture Action is not intended to have

any preclusive, collateral estoppel, or res judicata impact on Wilmington Trust.

Future Cooperation and Disclosure uirements

2. Wilmington Trust shall cooperate fully with the USAO for a period beginning on

the effective date and ending no earlier than the conclusion of all distoict court, and appellate

proceedings relatin g to United States v. David Gibson, Robert Hmra, Wlltam North, and Kerltn

Rakowski,l5-23-RGA (D. Del.) in any and all matters relating to the Covered Conduct described

in this Agreement. Wilmingtoo Trust agrces to cooperation in a manner consistent with applicable

law and rules pursuant to this paragraph as follows:

4
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A. Upon request of the USAO, Wilminglon Trust shall designate

knowledgeable employees, agents or attomeys to provide to the USAO complete, truthful,

and accurate non-privileged information and to cooperate with any assigned claims

adminishator-

B. Neither Wilmington Trust nor its officers, directors, employees, agents, or

counsel, shall provide any support to the individual criminal defendants chalge d n untted

States v. David Gibson, Robert Harra, William North, and Kevyn Rakowsh, Crim' No' 15-

23-RGA (D. Del.), or play any lole in the continued investigation, defense, appeal, or

collateral review of those defendants' criminal cases, other than (i) as permitted by

indemnifioation law; and (2) providing truthful testimony'

C. Wilmington Trust shall use its best efforts to make available for interviews

or testimony, as required by the USAO, present or former officers, directors, employees,

agents and consultants of wilmington Trust or its former subsidiaries and af[rliates. This

obligation includes, but is not limited to, swom testimony in federal trials.

D. Wilmington Trust shall certif as authentic records all documents and

records provided to the USAO or any other federal agency relating to the Covered Conduct,

and shall identify and make available applicable records custodians to testi$ before a

federal grand jury or in federal trials.

E. Wilmington Trust preserves and does not waive its right to assed any

applicable privilege.

F. Should Wilmington Trust leam of credible evidence or allegations related

to the Statement of Facts, Wilmington Trust shall promptly report such evidence or

allegations to the USAO.

G. This Agreement does not reshiot in any manner the way that Wilmington

Trust defends itself in any matter in which it is then a patty.

5
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Releases m T,iahilitv

3. Upon receipt of the Transferred Amormt, the USAO shall move to dismiss the

charges in ttre pending indictonents against Wilrnington Trust with prejudice.

4. Subject to and conditioned upon Wiknington Trust's full payment of the

Transferred Amount, the USAO fifther agrees not to bring any criminal proceeding against

Wilmington Trust and any respective successors and assigns relating to the Covered Conduct.

5. If Wilmington Trust is unable to transfff the Transferred Amount prior to the

emparrelment of the jury 1n (Jnited States v. Tfilmington Ttust et al, Crim. No' 15-23-RGA (D.

Del.), Wilrnington Trust shall agree to request a severance from the remaining criminal defendants.

Wilmington Trust frrrther agr€es to waive any antl all claims to dismiss the Third Superseding

Indictrnent uader the Speedy Trial Ac! 18 U.S.C. $ 3161.

6. This Agreement does not provide any protection against any prosecution or civil

action based on any future conduct by wilmington Trust. In addition, this Agreement does not

provide any protection against ptosecution of any culrenl or former officer, director, employee,

shareholder, ageg consultanl, contractor, or subcontractor of Wilmington Trust for any violations

committed by them related to the Covered Conduct.

7. Wilmington Trust, and any current or former affiliated entity, and any of their/its

respective successors and assigns, fully and finally releases the United States and its officers,

agents, employees, and servants ftom atry present or future glaims (including attomey's fees, costs,

and expenses of every kind and howeve. denominated) that Wilmin5on Trust has asserted, could

have asserted, or may assert in the future against the United States and its officers, agents,

employees, contractors, and servants relating to the Covered Conduct and the investigation and

criminal prosecution to date thereof.

6
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8. As a condition to this Agreement, Wilmington Trust expressly admits the

statements and facts set out in the Statement of Facts set forth in Exiibit A. By entering into this

Agreement, however, Wilminglon Trust does lot admit any liability.

Waiver of Potential IC Indemn cation CIaims bvWilm Trust

g. Wilmington Trust hereby irrevocably waives any right that it otherwise might have

to seek (and in any event agrees that it shall not seek) any form of indemnification, reimbursement,

or contribution ftom the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ('FDIC) in any capacity,

including the FDIC in its Corporate Capacity, for any payment that is a portion of the Transferred

Amount set forth in Paragraph 1 of this Agreement.

Waiver of Potential Defenses bv Wilmineton Trust

10. wihnington Trust, and any cunent or former affiliated entity (to the extent that

wilmington Trust has. the ability to bind such affiliated entity) and any of their respective

successors and assigns waive and shall not assert any defenses Wilminglon Trust may have to any

criminal prosecution or administrative action that may be based in whole or in part on a contention

that, under the Double Jeopardy clause in the Fifth Amendment ofthe constitution, or under tho

Excessive Fines Clause in the Eighth Amcndment of the Constitution, this Agreement bars a

remedy sought in such criminal prosecution or ad{rinistrative aotiofi.

Un a llowable.leqqgDsEssd

1 1. A.ll costs (as defined in the Federal Acquisition Regulation, 48 C'F'R' $ 31'205-47)

incrmed by wilmington Trust, and their/its present or former officerc, difectors, employees,

shareholders, and agents in conneciion with:

A. the matters covsred by this Agreement;

B. the USAO's investigation ofthe Covered Conduct;

7
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C. the investigation, defense, and corrective actions undertaken by Wilmington

Trust, in response to the USAO's investigation in connection with the matters covered by

this Agreement (including attomey's fees);

D. the negotiation and performance ofthis Agreement; and

E. payments made to the United States pursuant to this Agreement

constitute Unallowable Costs.

Future Treatment Unallowable Costs

12. Unallowable Costs will be separately determined and accounted for by Wilmington

Trust, and \Milmington Trust shall not charge such Unallowable costs directly or indirectly to any

contract with the United States.

Public Statements bv Companv

13. All Parties consent to the disclosure to the public of this Agreement, and

jnformation about this Agreement.

14. Wilmington Trust expressly agrees that it shall not, through present or future

attomeys, officers, directors, employees, agents, or any otler person authorized to speak for

Wilmington Trust make any extrajudioial statement, contradicting the statements or facts

contained in the Statement of Facts, set forth in Exhibit A, or the terms of this Agreement. Any

such contradictory statement shall, subject to cure rights of Wilmington Trus! constitute a breach

ofthis Agreement. The decision whether any extrajudicial statement by any person contradicting

a statement or fact contained in the Statement of Facts or the tems of this Agreement wiil be

imputed to Wilmington Trust for the purpose of determining whether it has breached this

Agreement shall be decided by the Court. If the USAO determines that an extrajudicial statement

by any such person contradicts in whole or in part statements or facts in the Statement of Facts or

the terms of this Ageement, ttre USAO shall notiir Wihnington Trust, and Wilmington Trust may

8
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avoid a claimed breach of this Agreement by publicly repudiating such statement(s) within five

(5) business days after notification.

15. Wilmington Trust shall be permitted to raise any defenses, take any legal positions,

assert any claims and otherwise defend as Wilmington Tn:st deems appropriate in ail proceedings

in which it is then a party.

16. Wilmington Trust agrees that if it, or any of its/their direct or indirect subsidiaries

or affiliates issues a press release or holds any press conference in connection with this A$eement,

Wilmington Trust shall first consult with the USAO to determine (a) whether the text of the release

or proposed statements at the press conference are true and accurate with respect to matters

between the USAO and Wihnington Trust; and (b) whether the USAO has any objection to the

release.

17. This Ageement is govemed by the laws of the United States. The Parties agree

that ttre exclusivejurisdiction and any venue for any dispute relating to this Agreement is the U.S.

District Court for the Distriot of Delaware and that the Honorabie Richard G. A-ndrews will retain

continuing jurisdiction to resolve any such dispute. This Agreement is intended for the benefit of

the Parties only and does not create any third-party rights. The Parties acknowledge that this

Ageement is made without any trial or adjudication or finding of any issue of fact or Iaw, and is

not a final order or a fmal adjudication of any court or governmental authority.

18. Each Pafiy shall bear its own legal and other costs incuned in connection with this

matter, inoluding the preparation and performance ofthis Agreement.

79. Each Party and signatory to this Agreement represents that it freely and voluntarily

enters into this Agreement without any degree ofduress or compulsion.

20. For purposes ofconstruing this Agreemen! this Agreement shall be deemed to have

been drafted by all Parties and shall not, therefore, be oonstrued against any Par[z for that reason

in any dispute.

9
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21. This Agreement constitutes the complete agleement between the Parties. This

Agreement may not be amended except by written consent of the Parties.

' 22, The undersigred counsel represent and warrant that they are fully authorized to

execute this Agreement on behalf of the persons and entities indicated below.

23. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which constitutes an

original and all of\ryhich constitute one and the same Agreement.

24. This Ageement is binding on Wilnington Trust's successors, transferees, heirs,

and assigns. Excep as may otherwise be agreed by the parties hereto in connection with a

particular transaction, Wilmington Trust agrees that in the event it sells, mergers, or hansfers all

or substantially all ofits business operations as they exist as ofthe date ofthis Agreement whether

such sale is structured as a sale, asset sale, merger, or transfer, it shall include in any contract for

sale, merger, or hansfer a provision binding the purchaser, or any successor in interest thereto, to

the obligations described in this Agreement.

25. This Agreement is binding on Wihnington Trust and the USAO but specifically

does not bind any other oomponent of the Depaxtment of Justice, other federal agencies, or any

state, local, or foreign law enforcement or regulatory agencies, or any other authorities, although

the usAo will bring wilrninglon Trust's compliance with its obligations under this Agreement to

the attention ofsuch agencies and authorities ifrequested to do so by Wilmington Trust.

26. This Agreement is effective on tlle date of signatwe of the last signatory to the

Agreement. Facsimiles of signatrre and signatures provided by portable document format ('.pdf)

shall constitute acceptable, binding signatures for purposes of this Agreement.

Notice

27. Any notice to the USAO under this Agreement shall be given by personal delivery,

ovemight delivery by a recognized delivery service, or registered or certified mail, addressed to

either Robert F. Kravetz or Lesley F. Wolf, Assistant United states Attomeys, united States

10
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Attomey's Offrce for the District of Deiaware, 1007 N. Orange Stree! Suite 700, Wilmirlgton, DE

19801. Ar,ry notice to Wilminglon Trust shall be given by personal delivery, ovemight delivery

by a recognized delivery service, or registered or certified mail, addressed to Brian R. Yoshida,

One M&T Plaza, 8th Floor, Buffalo, New York 14203. Notice shall be effective upon actual

receipt by the USAO or Wilmington Trust.

AGREED:

FOR TT{E USAO:

DAVID C. WEISS

Acting United States Attomey
Diskict of Delaware

By

Date:

Date: /o/?//?

By:

By:

Robert F. Kravetz
Assistant Unifed States

I lf
Assistant ted States A ey.

M. McCall
Assistant United States Attomey

l1

,ur". to/1 f r7

nlq f ry

f
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AGREED:

I'OR WILMINGTON TRUST CORPORATION

Date: By:
Yoshida

Trust Corporation

Date: By:
Matthew P. Majadan

Skadden, kps, Slatg Meagher & Flom LLP

12
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AGREED:

FOR WILMINGTON TRUST CORPORATION

Date: By:
Brian R. Yoshida
Wilminglon Trust Corporation

Date: I t7 By:

Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP

12
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EXHIBIT A-STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Wilmington Trust Company @ereinafter referred to as the "Bank") comprised

Wilmington Trust Corporation's Delaware-based whoily-owned retail and commercial banking

subsidiary and was a fina:rcial institution, as defined by Tille 18, United States Code, Section 20,

with deposits insured by the Federal Deposit lnsurance Company.

2. As a financial institution, the Bank was subject to regulatory supervision by the

Board of ttre Govemors of the Federal Reserve System and the Federal Reserve Bank of

Philadelphia (collectively refened to as the "Federal Reserve").

3. In connection with both its internal and eKernal reporting ofpast due loans, t}e

Bank engaged in a monthly process of excluding ftom fiira1 past due numbers its mahred

commercial loans that were curent for interest and in the process of extension (the "Waiver

Practice").

4. As a result of the 2009 fuli-scope examination of the Bank, the Federal Reserve

and the Balk entered irrto a Memorandum of Understanding on October 21, 2009 (the "MOU).

Pursuant to tle MOU, the Bank agreed to submit Monthly Regulatory Reports, which included

past due loan bfomration, to the Federal Reserve.

5. On each of the following dates set forth below, the Bank submitted a Monthly

Regulatory Report to the Federal Reserve that did not describe ttre Bank's use ofthe Waiver

Practice:

Date Monthly Rezulato ry Report

October 30, 2009 September 2009

November 25, 2009 October 2009

December 23, 2009 November 2009
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Ianuary 29,2010 December 2009

February 26, 2010 January 2010

March26,2010 F'ebruary 2010

April29,2070 March 2010

May 28,2010 April 2010

hne 29,2010 May 2010

Jt:ly 23,2010 June 2010

6. In addition, in advance of a target examination that commenced in December

2009, and a full-scope examination that commenced il May 2010, the Federal Reserve requested

the Bank to submit a list of its past due loans. Il1 responding to each request (with loan data as of

september 2009 and May 2010, respectively), the Bank's submissions did not describe its use of

the Waiver Practice.


